BEFORE THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI CASE NO. 2008-CA-00750-SCT

ROBERT LEE TYLER, JR.

APPELLANT

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that Justices in this Court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal:

- 1. Robert Tyler, Jr., Appellant;
- 2. Sanford Knott, counsel for Appellant;
- 3. Thomas J. Lowe, counsel for Appellant on direct appeal;
- 4. Johnnie E. Walls, Jr., counsel for Appellant in State v. Tyler, Jr.;
- Steve Jubera, Assistant District Attorney of Desoto County,

STATEMENT OF ISSUES

AND NOW the Appellant, Robert Tyler, Jr. puts forth the following issues for review:

ISSUE NO. 1: WHETHER THE LOWER COURT'S FINDING THAT
APPELLANT FAILED TO PROVE THAT THE TRIAL COURT
IMPROPERLY INSTRUCTED THE JURY IN VIOLATION OF SHARPLIN,
WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS?

ISSUE NO. 2: WHETHER THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN FINDING
THAT APPELLANT WAIVED HIS PRESENCE DURING JURY
DELIBERATIONS WHEN THE TRIAL JUDGE HAD EX PARTE
COMMUNICATION WITH THE JURY?

ISSUE NO. 3: WHETHER BOTH TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL
RENDERED INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE IN FAILING TO ARGUE THAT
APPELLANT WAS DENIED A FAIR TRIAL IN VIOLATION OF DUE
PROCESS OF LAW WHEN, DURING DELIBERATIONS, THE TRIAL
JUDGE INSTRUCTED THE JURY IN ABSENCE OF THE DEFENSE?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The matter before the Court is an appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief after an evidentiary hearing. Robert Tyler, Jr., the Appellant was convicted on or about July 9, 2003 of sexual battery in the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi. Appellant seeks this Court's review and intervention in order for him to receive a new trial.

On June 27, 2002, a DeSoto County Grand Jury returned an indictment against the Robert Tyler, Jr. (hereinafter "Appellant") for three (3) counts of sexual battery charging him with having sex with a minor in January of 2002. Tyler was represented by Attorney Johnny Walls and the trial was held on or about July 9, 2003. Former circuit judge, George Ready, presided over the case. After the case was submitted to the jury, it sent out a note that it was deadlocked. See R. 15. Without bringing the jury out or having trial counsel or Appellant present, the judge reconvened court, and further instructed the jury, via, the bailiff. The jury later returned a verdict finding Appellant guilty of one (1) count of sexual battery and Appellant was sentenced to serve a term of imprisonment for thirty (30) years.

Attorney Walls, for Appellant, thereafter, filed a motion for judgment notwithstanding the verdict and at the hearing on July 17, 2003, he argued, *inter alia*, that the trial court erred in failing to allow Appellant to move for a mistrial

when the jury sent a note stating that it was deadlocked on all of the charges. ¹ The motion was denied on July 17, 2003. On appeal, Appellant was represented by Attorney Thomas J. Lowe who argued matters with respect to jury selection, misconduct of the prosecutor, and the admissibility of Tyler's alleged confession. See <u>Tyler v. State</u>, 911 So. 2d 550 (Miss. App. 2005).

After his conviction was affirmed on May 22, 2005, by the Mississippi Court of Appeals and writ of certiorari was denied by this Court on September 22, 2005, Appellant filed his Petition for Post-Conviction Relief in the Circuit Court of Desoto County, Mississippi claiming that he was denied his right to be present at every critical stage of his trial and ineffective assistance of counsel.² Both claims arose from an **ex parte** communication between the judge and the jury during deliberations.

The motion was actually styled Motion For A Judgment Notwithstanding Jury Verdict, or in the Alternative for a New Trial. The additional grounds were:

^{1.} The court erred in overruling the motion for a directed verdict at the conclusion of the State's case and again at the conclusion of the presentation of all the evidence;

^{2.} That the charges were not supported in fact or by law;

^{3.} That Petitioner's confession was illegally allowed into evidence;

^{4.} That jury instruction was erroneously refused and certain state instructions were erroneously given;

^{5.} That his equal protection rights were violated when he was charged for a crime that would not have been a crime had it been committed against an adult; and

^{6.} That the sentence imposed was unduly harsh.

R. 16-19.

Leave to file the Petition For Post Conviction Relief was granted by this Court on December 5, 2007.

The evidentiary hearing was held on February 13, 2008.³ During said hearing, Appellant testified that he never knew during his trial that the jury was deadlocked at one point, that the circuit court had reconvened court in his absence, or that his father, Robert Tyler, Sr. heard the instruction the trial judge gave the jury. It was not until after he was convicted did he know about the note from the jury and reconvening of court. However, as to his father's knowledge of what the trial judge said to the jury, that was not known until after present counsel interviewed the father about his observations at trial.⁴

Next Robert Tyler, Sr. testified that the jury was out for about an hour when he and his wife went back into the courtroom, sat down, but noticed that the bailiff had called for everyone to come in the courtroom. T. 21-23. He stated, further, that the alleged victim and mother were present, but he could not remember if the prosecution was there. T. 23, 27. He did, however, testify that neither Attorney Walls nor his son were present. T. 25. The bailiff passed the note to the judge who read it and then directed the bailiff, "Go back and tell them do not come out until they have a verdict." T. 24. He also testified that one of the individuals at the

A stipulation was made and approved by the court that there was no transcript that could be found by the court reporter of the relevant communication between the trial judge and jury. T. 2-3.

⁴ See attached to Petition For Post-Conviction Relief the sworn affidavit by Appellant. R.38-40.

evidentiary hearing, later identified as Sergeant Lynn Fly of the DeSoto County Sheriff's Department, was a bailiff at the trial of his son. T. 26.

Sergeant Fly testified that he was employed during the time the case went to trial and was a courthouse security bailiff, but that he could not remember the case. With respect to passing notes to and from the jury, he testified that he would not have been the one to do so. According to Fly, the court clerk or civilian bailiff, however, performed this task during 2003. T. 31-34.

George Ready testified that as former circuit judge, he would have had two (2) types of bailiffs: a courthouse security bailiff and jury or civilian bailiff. T. 35-36. While Ready confirmed that Sergeant Fly actually worked on Tyler's trial, he also confirmed that Fly would not have received or passed notes from the jury. T. 46-37. Ready, further, testified that he could not remember what he said to the jury (T. 44), but that he would not have given a Sharplin charge with the first note from the jury. T. 46. His standard practice would have been to write on back of the note and send it back to the jury for it to continue deliberations. If that were not done, he would have instructed the bailiff to tell the jury "continue deliberating or keep deliberating." T. 41-42. On cross-examination, Ready testified that he did not think he would have instructed the jury to not come back out until it reached a verdict nor did he believe that he had ever given said

instruction. T. 48. As to the absence of the defense's presence when he instructed the jury, he testified that he had instructed the parties not to leave the courthouse, that both Attorney Walls and Tyler left the courthouse, and "to the best of his recollection," he and bailiff looked for both <u>in</u> the courthouse. T. 43-44.

At the close of the hearing, the lower court later denied Appellant any relief and this appeal followed.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

After the evidentiary hearings, the lower court denied Appellant post-conviction because it agreed with the State's position that the jury was indeed instructed according to the law. The lower court, specifically, found that Appellant's only fact witness, his father, was impeached in three (3) ways: (1) he could not remember the bailiff who was present at the time of the trial; (2) he could not remember the exact courtroom that the trial occurred in; and (3) he did not remember the exact words of the trial judge until after he was asked by post-conviction counsel.

Appellant would state that, on appeal, each finding of the lower court is subject to clearly erroneous standard. Appellant can satisfactory demonstrate that the lower court committed reversible error given that, first, the record reflects that

Robert Tyler, Sr., the father of Appellant, was not only present when the judge instructed the jury but, in fact, heard the language used and that said language was not disputed by the trial judge who, too, testified. The father, secondly, actually did remember the bailiff at the trial and who, coincidentally, was present at the evidentiary hearing. His memory was corroborated by the trial judge. Third, the fact that the father testified that the trial occurred in a different courtroom, a fact disputed by the trial judge, was completely immaterial given the consistency and clarity of the rest of his testimony. Finally, the lower court's finding as to the timing of the father's statement was not contested by the State. More importantly, the witness never testified that he only remembered after being questioned by counsel concerning the post-conviction motion. The testimony revealed that Appellant only realized that the father actually heard the judge's comments during the interview with counsel. A review of each finding by the lower court must lead this Court to the conclusion that the findings can not withstand judicial scrutiny and each was clearly erroneous.

Also during the evidentiary hearing, it was clear that during Tyler's trial, the defense was not present during the **ex parte** communication between the trial judge and jury. The lower court, nevertheless, found that Tyler waived his right to be present. This, too, was error as there was no proof that Tyler made a voluntary,

knowing, and intelligent waiver of his right to be present. In fact, the proof demonstrated that Tyler did not even know that the jury had sent out a note until afer he was convicted.

Finally, Appellant Tyler, also, claimed that he received ineffective assistance of trial and appellate counsel given that neither counsel raised that due process of law required him to be present when the judge spoke with jury during deliberations. Appellant's claim for relief here is premised upon the clear statement of the trial judge, during post-trial motions, that he did **not** give a Sharplin instruction to the jury. If this did not signal to counsel that, perhaps, Appellant did not receive a fair trial, then, objectively, counsel failed to render effective legal assistance. Not raising the due process argument at any point or level, left the purity of the jury deliberations in question. This Court is then asked to find that Appellant did not receive effective assistance of counsel.

In the end, Appellant has demonstrated, by a preponderance of evidence, that he was entitled to relief in reference to his post-conviction motion and that the lower court committed error in denying Appellant any relief.

ARGUMENT

THE LOWER COURT'S FINDING THAT AN IMPROPER INSTRUCTION WAS NOT GIVEN TO THE JURY WAS CLEARLY ERRONEOUS

When the trial judge instructed the deadlocked jury, the instruction did not comport with this Court's holding in <u>Sharplin</u>.

Enough time has passed since this Court's decision in <u>Sharplin</u>, for every trial judge to know that when a jury in criminal case is deadlocked, and further deliberations may likely produce a verdict, there are two (2) possible instructions that can be given. See <u>Sharplin v. State</u>, 330 So. 2d 591 (Miss. 1976). The trial judge may instruct the jury to "please continue your deliberation" or may give the following instruction:

"I know that it is possible for honest men and women to have honest different opinions about the facts of a case, but, if it is possible to reconcile your differences of opinion and decide this case, then you should do so. Accordingly, I remind you that the court originally instructed you that the verdict of the jury must represent the considered judgment of each juror. It is your duty as jurors to consult with one another and to deliberate in view of reaching agreement if you can do so without violence to you individual judgment. Each of you must decide the case for yourself, but only after an impartial consideration of the evidence to your fellow jurors. In the course of your deliberations, do not hesitate to reexamine your own views and change your opinion if you are convinced it is erroneous, bu do not surrender your honest convictions as to the weight or effect of the evidence solely because of the opinion of your fellow jurors or for the mere purpose of returning a verdict. Please continue your deliberations." Id. at 596.

In the case today, the father of Appellant was present when the judge instructed the jury after it sent out a note that a verdict could not be reached. T. 21-25. He testified at the hearing that the trial judge told the bailiff to instruct the jury to go "back and not come out until they can reach a verdict." (T. 24) The

lower court found that if said language had been used, the trial judge would have committed reversible error. R. 44-45. However, the lower court, also, found that the father's testimony was impeached, allegedly, since he "could not remember the bailiff nor the courtroom, but could remember the exact words of a judge several years ago which he did not remember until asked by counsel on post-conviction."

R. 47. Instead, the court found the trial judge's testimony credible and more candid and, thereafter, found that Appellant had not proven his case. R. 47.

However, as will be seen later, each finding of the lower court was clearly erroneous.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

Post-conviction relief shall be granted whenever there is evidence of material facts, not previously heard, that requires vacation of the conviction or sentence. See Miss. Code Ann. §99-39-5(1)(e)(Supp. 2008). A petitioner must demonstrate that he is entitled to relief by the preponderance of the evidence. Id. Because this is an appeal from the denial of post-conviction relief (after an evidentiary hearing) this Court must review the findings of facts and determine if they were clearly erroneous. Johns v. State, 926 So. 2d 188, 194 (Miss. 2006) (citing Reynolds v. State, 521 So. 2d 914, 918 (Miss. 1988)). Despite there being evidence to support it, a finding of fact is clearly erroneous if, after this Court looks at the entire record, it is left with the definite and firm conviction that a

mistake has been made. Id. 194; <u>Bryan v. Holzer</u>, 589 So. 2d 648, 659 (Miss. 1991)(citing <u>UHS-Oualicare</u>, Inc. V. <u>Gulf Coast Community Hospital</u>, Inc., 525 So. 2d 746, 754 (Miss. 1987)). "This Court must examine the entire record and accept that evidence which supports or reasonably tends to support the findings of fact made below, together with all reasonable inference which may be drawn therefrom and which favor the lower Court's findings of fact." <u>Mullins v. Ratcliff</u>, 515 So. 2d 1183, 1189(Miss. 1987)) (citing <u>Cotton v. McConnell</u>, 435 So. 2d 683, 685(Miss. 1983)). The trial judge, as the trier of fact, has the sole authority to evaluate the credibility of the witnesses. <u>John</u> at 194; <u>Mullins</u> at 1189 (citing <u>Hall</u> v. State ex rel Waller, 157 So. 2d 781, 784 (Miss. 1963)).

1. IMPEACHMENT BY NOT REMEMBERING THE BAILIFF

The first objection that the lower court had with witness's credibility was that he could not remember the bailiff who was present during the trial.

Recall that the Tyler, Sr. testified that an individual, later identified as Sergeant Lyn Allen Fly, was the bailiff who was present during the trial of his son.

T. 26. Fly, who happened to be at the evidentiary hearing, testified that he was a courtroom security bailiff and employed in that capacity during the time of the trial, but could not remember the trial of Robert Tyler, Jr. However, George Ready, clearly confirmed that Fly worked for him in the trial of the case. T. 46.

There was no basis for the Court's findings.

Perhaps, however, the lower court intended to find that the witness erroneously identified Sergeant Fly as the one who transported the jury note to the trial judge. However, that finding, too, was clearly erroneous. At the time the father identified Fly, he actually was responding to the question as to who was in the courtroom at the time the trial judge **read** the note **from** the jury as seen in the following exchange:

- "Q. Okay. Was your son present when the judge came in and read the note?
- A. No, my son wasn't in here.
- Q. Was his attorney present?
- A. No, I didn't -- he wasn't in here.
- Q. Were the prosecution present, the lawyers who sit on this side?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. You think they were present?
- A. He was there.
- Q. Okay. Do you know the prosecutor's name?
- A. No. I don't know his name.
- Q. All right. And so you remember or do yo not remember who was all there?
- Q. I don't remember who all was there.
- A. Okay. All right. But you know your son was not there?
- Q. I know he wasn't there, and I know his attorney wasn't there, and I know the bailiff.
- Q. The bailiff?
- A. Yeah.
- Q. Is that the bailiff in the courtroom today?
- A. (Indicating)
- Q. Do you think that's the same bailiff?
- A. That's him. I don't forget faces. That's him.
- Q. Okay."

T. 25-26.

The father was on point, as confirmed by Ready, that Fly was working the

trial of the case. Tyler Sr. never identified Fly as the bailiff who transported the note from the jury. In any event, the finding by the lower court that he did not remember the bailiff was clearly erroneous.⁵

2. IMPEACHMENT BY NOT REMEMBERING COURTROOM

The witness's testimony was not impeached despite his alleged misrecollection of the exact location of the courtroom inside the courthouse where the trial occurred.

The issue with respect to the courtroom developed on cross-examination of the Appellant's father when he testified that the bailiff came in through a side door when the jury note was passed. T. 27. Upon asking him to clarify which side door, since there were two, the witness exclaimed that the courtroom he was present in was not the same one of the trial. T. 28. While this fact was not stipulated to, the lower court apparently accepted the testimony of Ready who later testified that, in fact, the courtroom presently was the exact same one as during the trial. T. 41.

Appellant would state that whether the trial occurred in another courtroom

It should be noted that Ready's testimony as to who transported jury notes was inconsistent with Deputy Fly's recollection. Fly originally testified that transportation of notes from the jury to the judge and vice versa always was done by the clerk. T. 32. He later said that the transportation of the notes would occur, also, by the civilian bailiff. T. 33. Ready stated that the civilian bailiff only would transport the notes or otherwise communicate directly to the jury during deliberations. T. 37.

was immaterial as there was no dispute that Tyler, Sr., was present during the trial. In fact, he testified at the trial. Second, while the witness explained that the jury box and side door, from which the jury exited, were in a different location, there was no contrary evidence that in July of 2003 (i.e., the trial of the case) his memory was inaccurate. The lower court never highlighted any differences between the courtrooms or even suggested what changes were or were not made to the existing courtroom since the trial.

Moreover, Tyler, Sr.'s alleged misrecollection of the courtroom pales in comparison to the overall clarity and consistency of the rest of his testimony. Tyler, Sr. testified clearly, inter alia, who in his family was present during the trial: (T. 18-19.) that he could not come into the courtroom until after he testified (T. 19.); that he sat, eventually, on the third bench behind defense table (T. 19.); that he went for lunch during jury deliberations (T. 20-21.); how long the jury deliberated before the jury note was passed (T. 21.); what direction the bailiff came from when he entered the courtroom (T. 23.); who was present when the ex parte communication occurred (T. 23, 25-26.); and how long, thereafter, the jury deliberated. T. 25. The father's testimony was not discredited in any way. Therefore, it was a stretch to discredit this witness in light of his complete testimony. Therefore, the court's finding was not only immaterial to the witness's credibility, but it was clearly erroneous.

3. <u>IMPEACHMENT BY NOT REMEMBERING JUDGE'S</u> COMMENT UNTIL INTERVIEWED BY COUNSEL

Lastly, the lower court questioned the credibility of Appellant's witness by finding that the father remembered the trial court's comments to the jury only after being interviewed by counsel involved in Appellant's post-conviction petition. Appellant would state that, once again, the lower court's ruling was clearly erroneous.

During Appellant's testimony, he clarified that he did not know that his father overheard the comments of the trial judge during jury deliberations until after his direct appeals had run and counsel was investigating this case for post-conviction review. T.9; See also R. 38-40. First, this Court should note that there was never a challenge by the State concerning this issue. Second, the father never testified, nor was there any other evidence presented that he **first remembered** the judge's comments only after being questioned by counsel. Later, during oral argument, it was, again, clarified as to when and how information developed. T. 58-59.

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