IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

ROBERT LEE TYLER, JR.

APPELLANT

VS.

NO. 2008-CA-0750

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: JOHN R. HENRY
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

The prisoner's father testified that the bailiff passed a note to the judge. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 24). He then testified that he never saw a note. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 25).

The prisoner's father indicated that the prosecutor was present at the time the judge spoke to the bailiff. Then he testified that he did not recall who was present. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 25 - 26).

The prisoner's father indicated that the bailiff who took the note to the Ready and who was supposedly told by Ready to tell the jury not to return until they had a verdict was Sergeant Fly. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 26). However, both Fly and Ready testified that Fly's duties did not include handling communications between juries and trial judges. (R. Vol. 2, pp. 32 - 33; 37).

Finally, the prisoner's father admitted that he said nothing about what Ready allegedly said to the bailiff until the prisoner's present counsel began working on the prisoner's application for leave to proceed. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 30). This fact of itself makes the witness' testimony rather dubious. Surely he would have mentioned it to the prisoner's trial attorney.

The prisoner would have the Court believe that his father did not testify that Sergeant Fly was the bailiff who took the note to Ready. However, given the context of the questions and answers on this point, the prisoner's father rather clearly did indicate that. He did not state that some person other than the Sergeant took the note to the judge.

The prisoner then says that the confusion about which courtroom was used for trial was a matter of insignificance. However, this confusion directly bore on what weight to give the testimony. If the witness was confused on this point, and others as well, it was reasonable to question whether he had an accurate recollection of what Ready said to the bailiff.

The prisoner's father's testimony was contradictory at points. Taken as a whole, there was a substantial basis for the judge in this hearing to question the accuracy if not the veracity of the prisoner's father's testimony. This is particularly so in view of the unexplained failure to mention what Ready had supposedly said until after the direct appeal process had been exhausted. How could it be that the prisoner's father only realized the significance of what Ready allegedly said – if he said it at all – only after the passage of so much time?

In contrast to the testimony presented by the prisoner, Ready's testimony was clear and straightforward. He explained that he used two bailiffs and explained the difference in their duties. He explained what his procedure was when presented with a first report of a deadlock by a jury, which was either to write the instruction to keep deliberating or tell the civilian bailiff to so inform the jury. He did not think he told the jury not to return until they reached a verdict. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 48)

An attempt was made to locate the prisoner and his attorney, without effect. Both ignored Ready's instructions to remain in the courthouse. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 43).

The essential factual determination for the judge in the case at bar was whether Ready

instructed the jury not to return until it had a verdict, or whether he told the jury through the bailiff to continue deliberations. The only witnesses in this hearing who had testimony to give on this point were the prisoner's father and Ready. The judge was the one with the sole authority to judge the credibility of the witnesses. His decision to accept the testimony of Ready is not clearly erroneous. The prisoner's witness' testimony was conflicting at various points. Beyond this, it was quite odd that he would not have mentioned what he said he heard to the prisoner or his trial attorney at a much earlier point in time. The Circuit Court's finding should not be disturbed.

The prisoner relies upon *Johns v. State*, 926 So.2d 188 (Miss. 2006). In that decision, a case involving an ineffective assistance of counsel claim raised in post - conviction relief, this Court held that, while the Circuit Court's finding was based on some evidence, the evidence taken as a whole left it with the firm conviction that a mistake had been made. *Id.* At 196. This decision is not on point here.

In *Johns*, the attorney failed to interview witnesses, did not go over the State's discovery with the accused, did not file pleadings, had no office or telephone, and did not create and maintain a client file, among other deficiencies. The attorney, in his testimony, stated mostly that he could not remember what he had done. He did refer to his "standard procedure" as to some matters but could provide no specifics with respect to the accused's case.

In the case at bar, there is not a host of vague references to "standard procedure". Other than not specifically recalling at the evidentiary hearing how he had instructed the jury, in terms of by note or oral instruction, the former judge was clear and specific in his answers. Moreover, the testimony given by this former judge is consistent with what he stated at the hearing on the

motion for a new trial, with respect to what he told the jury. (R. Vol. 5, pp. 363 - 364). His account at that time occurred just days after the jury had been instructed, a point in time at which his recollection would have been fresh. Thus, this case does not depend entirely upon a reference to a "standard procedure."

The instruction given by Ready – continue your deliberations – is an acceptable instruction. *Sharplin v. State*, 330 So.2d 591, 596 (Miss. 1976). As the prisoner acknowledges, the mere fact that Ready gave this instruction in the absence of the prisoner's attorney is not of itself a fatal defect in the procedure. *Young v. State*, 420 So.2d 1055,1058 (Miss. 1982); *See also De la Beckwith v. State*, 707 So.2d 547, 588 (Miss. 1997).

The prisoner, though, would have this Court limit or ignore these decisions because there was testimony by the prisoner's father that Ready forced a verdict. It is not necessary or desirable that the Court do so. What the Circuit Court had in this case was an issue of fact to decide. To do as the prisoner suggests would result in a rule that, where an accused or his witnesses dispute the word of a trial judge as to what the trial judge instructed the jury in a circumstance in which there is no record to refer to, then for that reason alone the verdict should be reversed. That is too harsh and simplistic of a rule.

The Circuit Court had a straightforward issue of fact to determine. The prisoner's testimony was suspect for several reasons – the fact that he delayed so long in reporting the alleged statement by Ready, the conflicts within his testimony, and the contradictions made by other witnesses as to certain parts of his testimony. On the other hand, Ready's testimony was consistent. What is more, just days after the trial ended, when the issue of the instruction came

¹ This record citation is to the record in the direct appeal of the prisoner's convictions. *Tyler v. State*, 911 So.2d 550 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005).

up in a post - trial motion, Ready stated the same thing there as he did in the hearing here with respect to what he told the jury.²

The prisoner says that Ready gave contradictory responses as to whether he gave a *Sharplin* instruction. However, this claim made by the prisoner is a misleading one. *Sharplin* establishes two forms of an instruction, a short one, which was what Ready used, or the longer one. Ready did not contradict himself: He consistently stated that he told the jury to continue its deliberations. He stated that at the hearing on the motion for a new trial, and he stated that in the evidentiary hearing on appeal here. That is a form of the *Sharplin* instruction.

A communication between a judge and jury will not amount to cause for reversal of a conviction unless it can be reasonably said that the communication influenced the jury's verdict. *Wilson v. State*, 853 So.2d 822, 824 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003)(citing *Gulf Hills Dude Ranch v. Brinson*, 191 So.2d 856 (Miss. 1966). In the case at bar, the prisoner did not establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the instruction given by Ready influenced the verdict. The only testimony produced by the prisoner to attempt to demonstrate that Ready influenced the verdict was that of his father, and that was contradictory and contradicted. The Circuit Court was the sole authority to determine the credibility of the witnesses. His decision as to which to believe and his decision as to the outcome of the motion in post - conviction relief cannot be said to be clearly erroneous.

The First Assignment of Error should be denied.

² It is true that Ready told the prisoner's trial counsel at the hearing on the post - trial motion that he did not give a *Sharplin* instruction, just after he stated that he had told the jury to continue its deliberations. Given the context of these statements, and bearing in mind that there are two forms of the *Sharplin* instruction, the reasonable construction to be given to Ready's words are that he did not give the longer form of it. The longer form is often given when the jury reports for a second time that it is deadlocked.

2. THAT THE CIRCUIT COURT DID NOT ERR IN FINDING THAT THE PRISONER WAIVED ANY RIGHT IN HIMSELF TO BE PRESENT AT THE TIME THE JURY WAS INSTRUCTED BY THE GEORGE READY

The trial court found that the prisoner waived any right to be present when the jury was instructed to continue its deliberations by violating Ready's instruction to remain in the courthouse. The prisoner contends this finding was error.

The Order from this Court indicated specifically what the evidentiary hearing was to encompass. Waiver of any right to be present was not one of those issues. Nonetheless, the Circuit Court discussed the issue.

There was no error in the ruling. The Court has held that a jury instruction conference is not a "critical stage" of a trial, such that an accused has the right to be present, because the issues are entirely legal, thus there being little, if anything, an accused could do to aid his defense. *De la Beckwith v. State*, 707 So.2d 547 (Miss. 1997); *Jordan v. State*, 786 So.2d 987 (Miss. 2001). In the case at bar, the prisoner was not present when Ready instructed the jury to continue its deliberations, but here was nothing the prisoner could have done to assist his defense at that point. The issues of whether the instruction was proper or where it should have been given were issues of law.

The prisoner had been instructed to remain in the courthouse. He did not do this. Nonetheless, an unavailing attempt was made to locate him. The prisoner was on bond at the time of his trial. (R. Vol. 2, pg. 7). Under Miss. Code Ann. Section 99-17-9(b) (Rev. 2007), the presence of an accused may be waived if he is on recognizance or bail and "is in any way in default for nonappearance". The prisoner did not follow the instructions of the trial court; he was at fault for his nonappearance. He waived his presence.

Finally, if there was error in this finding by the Circuit Court, any such error was

harmless. The prisoner has not pointed out any prejudice arising from this finding. Errors without prejudice do not trigger reversal. *Nicholson ex rel Gollott v. State*, 672 So.2d 744 (Miss. 1996),

The Second Assignment of Error should be denied.

3. THAT TRIAL AND APPELLATE COUNSEL FOR THE PRISONER WERE NOT INEFFECTIVE

In the final Assignment of Error, the prisoner contends that the prisoner's trial and appellate counsel were ineffective for having failed to raise what he describes as a due process issue concerning the prisoner's absence when the trial court instructed the jury to continue deliberating. We bear in mind the familiar standard by which such a claim is measured. *Jordan* v. *State*, 995 So.2d 94 (Miss. 2008).

The trial attorney did raise an issue in the motion for a new trial concerning this instruction, though not a due process issue. No issue was raised on appeal about the matter.

First of all, as we have pointed out above, the point in time at which Ready instructed the jury was not a "critical stage" of the prosecution. *De la Beckwith v. State*, 707 So.2d 547 (Miss. 1997). While the prisoner cites *Edlin v. State*, 523 So.2d 42 (Miss. 1988), which holds that an accused has the right to be informed of communications between the court and the jury, and to be present when they occur, the prisoner again fails to take into account what was said in *De la Beckwith, supra*. Consequently, we fail to see how a complaint on due process grounds would have been availing. There was no prejudice in having foregone this due process argument.

Secondly, to the extent that the prisoner would fault the appellate attorney for having failed to raise a due process argument on appeal, the attorney was limited to those grounds raised in the trial court. Had he attempted to raise the issue for the first time on appeal, the issue would

have been barred for review. The prisoner here makes no attempt to demonstrate "plain error".

A record was perhaps sufficient to raise the issue as to whether the Ready erred in instructing the jury outside the presence of counsel. But, at the time of the appeal, nothing was known of the claim made here as to how the jury was instructed. What appellate counsel had was the Ready's statement of what he told the jury, which, as we have pointed out above, was a proper instruction. Since appellate counsel likely knew that the mere fact of a communication between a judge and jury outside the presence of counsel is insufficient to require reversal, he likely saw no point in pursuing the issue. It is a strategic decision as to which issues to pursue on appeal.

Even if it is said that there was a due process violation, the prisoner has failed to demonstrate that he was prejudiced by it. The instruction to the jury given by the judge was a proper one, the prisoner's father's testimony notwithstanding. While it may be that the defense attorney would have made a standard motion for a mistrial, this undoubtedly would have been overruled, and properly so. Ready indicated in the hearing on the motion for a new trial that he would have overruled any such motion. In absence of any showing of harm in consequence of any putative due process violation, any such violation would be harmless. *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18 (1967). Thus, in terms of an ineffective assistance claim, the failure to raise a due process claim would not be prejudicial.

And too it must be borne in mind that the defense attorney and the prisoner violated the court's instructions to remain in the courthouse. The defense lawyer went to lunch; the prisoner went outside the courthouse for a time. An effort was made to located these two, without success. This put Ready in something of a quandary. He had a jury waiting upon a response but had no idea where the prisoner and the lawyer had run off to or when to expect their return. He

could not have simply declined to respond until the prisoner and his lawyer deigned to follow his

instructions. The acts of these two in violating the court's instructions were the reason the jury

was instructed outside their presence. The prisoner, having failed to follow the instructions of

the court, waived his presence. This would have made a due process claim a highly dubious one.

It would effectively been an attempt to hold the trial court responsible for the prisoner's and his

attorney's fault. A party may not fault a court for an alleged error that he invited. Davis v. State,

472 So.2d 428 (Miss. 1985).

CONCLUSION

The Circuit Court had to determine whether Ready gave a proper instruction to the jury.

Its decision rests upon substantial evidence and is not clearly erroneous. As for the ineffective

assistance claim, the mere fact that the judge instructed the jury outside the presence of counsel is

not reversible error. There was no prejudice to the prisoner that such a claim was not raised or

pursued on appeal.

The Order of the Circuit Court denying relief on the prisoner's motion in post -

conviction relief should be affirmed.